Brigham Young University Law School
BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Court of Appeals Briefs

2000

Jay L. Wood, Darrell K. Tanner, Scott A. Stokes, and
Leo Syphus v. Utah Farm Bureau Insurance
Company, Farm Bureau Life Insurance Company,
and FBL Insurance Company : Brief of Appellant
Utah Court of Appeals

questions or feedback.

Recommended Citation
Brief of Appellant, Wood v. Utah Farm Bureau, No. 20000349 (Utah Court of Appeals, 2000).
https://digitalcommons.law.byu.edu/byu_ca2/2747

https://digitalcommons.law.byu.edu?utm_source=digitalcommons.law.byu.edu%2Fbyu_ca2%2F2747&utm_medium=PDF&utm_campaign=PDFCoverPages
https://digitalcommons.law.byu.edu/byu_ca2?utm_source=digitalcommons.law.byu.edu%2Fbyu_ca2%2F2747&utm_medium=PDF&utm_campaign=PDFCoverPages
https://digitalcommons.law.byu.edu/byu_ca2?utm_source=digitalcommons.law.byu.edu%2Fbyu_ca2%2F2747&utm_medium=PDF&utm_campaign=PDFCoverPages
https://digitalcommons.law.byu.edu/byu_ca2/2747?utm_source=digitalcommons.law.byu.edu%2Fbyu_ca2%2F2747&utm_medium=PDF&utm_campaign=PDFCoverPages
http://digitalcommons.law.byu.edu/utah_court_briefs/policies.html


IN THE UTAH COURT OF APPEALS 

JAY L. WOOD, DARRELL K. TANNER, 
SCOTT A STOKES, and LEO SYPHUS, 

Appellants/ Plaintiffs 

vs. 

UTAH FARM BUREAU INSURANCE 
COMPANY, a Utah corporation, FARM 
BUREAU LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY, 
an Iowa corporation and FBL INSURANCE 
COMPANY, an Iowa corporation, 

Appellees/Defendants 

OPENING BRIEF OF THE APPELLANTS/PLAINTIFFS 

Appeal from the Ruling of the Second District Court, Weber County, 
Honorable Michael D. Lyon, District Judge 

Case No. 20000349-CA 
District Court No. 970906166CV 

Priority 15 

Stephen G. Morgan, A2315 
Joseph E. Minnock, A6281 
MORGAN, MEYER & RICE 
Eighth floor, Kearns Building 
136 South Main Street 
Salt Lake City, UT 84101 
Telephone: (801)531-7888 

Attorneys for Appellees 

John E. S. Robson, A4130 
Robert A. Garda, A7055 
Todd C. Emerson, A8175 
FABIAN & CLENDENIN, 
A Professional Corporation 
Twelfth Floor 
215 South State Street 
Post Office Box 510210 
Salt Lake City, Utah 84151 
Telephone: (801)531-8900 

Attorneys for Appellant ^ 1 1 t™" 

JUL 4Lft 2 

COURT OF APPEALS 



IN THE UTAH COURT OF APPEALS 

JAY L. WOOD, DARRELL K. TANNER, 
SCOTT A STOKES, and LEO SYPHUS, 

Appellants/ Plaintiffs 

vs. 

UTAH FARM BUREAU INSURANCE 
COMPANY, a Utah corporation, FARM 
BUREAU LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY, 
an Iowa corporation and FBL INSURANCE 
COMPANY, an Iowa corporation, 

Appellees/Defendants 

Case No. 20000349-CA 
District Court No. 970906166CV 

Priority 15 

OPENING BRIEF OF THE APPELLANTS/PLAINTIFFS 

Appeal from the Ruling of the Second District Court, Weber County, 
Honorable Michael D. Lyon, District Judge 

Stephen G. Morgan, A2315 
Joseph E. Minnock, A6281 
MORGAN, MEYER & RICE 
Eighth floor, Kearns Building 
136 South Main Street 
Salt Lake City, UT 84101 
Telephone: (801) 531-7888 

Attorneys for Appellees 

John E. S. Robson, A4130 
Robert A. Garda, A7055 
Todd C. Emerson, A8175 
FABIAN & CLENDENIN, 
A Professional Corporation 
Twelfth Floor 
215 South State Street 
Post Office Box 510210 
Salt Lake City, Utah 84151 
Telephone: (801)531-8900 

Attorneys for Appellant 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Table of Authorities ii 

Statement of Jurisdiction v 

Statement of the Issues and the Standard of Review v 

Statement of the Case v 

Statement of the Facts viii 

Standard of Review xvii 

Summary of Argument xvii 

Argument 1 

I. Questions of Fact Preclude Entry of Summary Judgment on the Wrongful 
Termination Claims 1 

A. Questions of Fact Regarding the 1994 Career Agent Contracts Preclude 
Summary Judgment 1 

B. Questions of Fact Regarding Leo Syphus's Implied In Fact Contract 
Preclude Summary Judgment 3 

II. Summary Judgment was Improperly Granted as to the Ownership of the Agents' 
Books of Business 5 

A. The Trial Court Failed to Recognize that the Agents, as Independent 
Contractors, Have an Ownership Right in Their Books of Business 5 

B. There are Material Issues of Fact that Should Have Precluded 
the Trial Court from Granting Summary Judgment Regarding 
Ownership of the Books of Business 8 

III. Material Questions of Fact Exist Precluding Summary Judgment on 
Plaintiffs' Breach of the Covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing Claim 10 

195119_1 1 



IV. Summary Judgment was Inappropriate on the Unjust Enrichment Claim 
Because Farm Bureau has Took the Career Agents' Books of Business 
Unfairly and to Farm Bureau's Benefit 13 

V. Material Questions of Fact Preclude Entry on Plaintiffs' Claim 
for Punitive Damages 14 

Conclusion 15 

Certificate Of Service 16 

Appendix 

195119_1 ii 



TABLE OF AUTHORITIES 

Cases 

Andalex Resources Inc. v. Myers, 
871 P.2d 1041, 1047-48 (Utah App. 1994) 10 

Brown v. Weiss, 
871 P.2d 552, 565 (Utah App. 1994) 10 

Colonia Insurance Co. v. City National Bank, 
13 F. Supp.2d 891, 901 (W.D. Ark. 1998) 6 

Cook v. Zions First National Bank, 
919 P.2d 56, 60 (Utah App. 1996) 10 

Fox v. MCI Communications Corp., 
931 P.2d 857, 860 (Utah 1997) 2 

Glass v. Minnesota Protective Life Ins. Co., 
314 N.W.2d 393, 397 (Iowa 1982) 13 

Gotchis v. Allstate Insurance Co., 
1993 WL 795440 (D. Mass.) 5, 6 

In Re Estate of Corning, 
108 A.D.2d 96,488 N.Y.S.2d 477 (N.Y. App. Div. 1985) 5, 6 

In Re Dunham, 
110F.3d286(5thCir. 1997) 5 

Olympus Hills Shopping Ctr.Ltd. v. Smith's Food & Drug Centers, Inc., 
889 P.2d 445 (Utah App. 1994) 10 

Preferred Marketing v. Hawkeye Nat. Life, 
A52 N.W.2d 389, 394 (Iowa 1990) 13 

Ryan v. Dan's Food Stores, Inc., 
972 P.2d 395,400 (Utah 1998) xvii, 1, 3, 4 

195119.1 111 



Sanderson v. First Sec. Leasing Co., 
844 P.2d 303, 306 (Utah 1992) 3 

St. Benedict's Development v. St. Benedict's Hospital, 
811 P.2d 194, 200 (Utah 1991) 10 

State v. Vincent. 
883 P.2d 278, 281 (Utah 1994) xvii 

Trembly v. Mrs. Fields Cookies, 

884 P.2d 1306, 1312 (Utah App. 1994) 4 

Statutes 

Utah Code Ann. §78-2-2(3)(j) v 

Utah Code Ann. §78-2a-3(2)(j) v 

Other Authorities 

American Jurisprudence 2d, Vol. 43, Insurance §150 (1982) 6 

Appleman, Insurance Law and Practice, §9026 (1991) 5 
Couch on Insurance, Vol. 4, Right to Clientele Under Agency System §26A:261 5, 8 

Couch On Insurance (Second), Vol. 4, Rights to Expirations, §26A:260 5, 6 

195119_1 iv 



STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION 

This case was transferred from the Utah Supreme Court, which had original 

jurisdiction under §78-2-2(3)(j). Jurisdiction of the Utah Court of Appeals is conferred by Utah 

Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(j). 

STATEMENT OF ISSUES AND STANDARD OF REVIEW 

The issues presented on appeal are: 

I. Do disputed issues of material fact remain in the case, making the trial court's 

order of summary judgment premature and improper? 

II. Did the trial court err by finding that the Career Agent Contracts, not the October 

1993 and June 1994 letters, control the employment arrangement between the Agents and Farm 

Bureau? 

III. Did the trial court err, as a matter of law, by finding that the plaintiffs had no 

ownership interest in the Books of Business confiscated by Farm Bureau? 

IV. Did the trial court err, as a matter of law by finding that Farm Bureau did not 

commit anticipatory breach when it terminated Leo Syphus prior to September 30, 1994? 

V. Did the trial court err, as a matter of law, by dismissing all remaining claims on 

the basis that Farm Bureau properly exercised its contractual rights? 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This lawsuit seeks to redress the economic damaged caused by Farm Bureau when it 

terminated four insurance agents, confiscated their books of business, and informed their clients 

that the agents had either quit or retired. Darrell Tanner, Scott Stokes, Jay Wood and Leo Syphus 
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are former insurance agents of Farm Bureau. Each man devoted their careers to working for 

Farm Bureau—a combined 91 years of service—before they were summarily fired. During this 

time, these men accumulated policies in their books of business worth over $1.7 million dollars, 

which Farm Bureau confiscated upon termination. 

Prior to the firings, Darrin Ivie, the Weber Agency manager, met separately with Messrs. 

Tanner, Stokes and Wood in October of 1993 to discuss their productivity and future relationship 

with Farm Bureau. These meetings were memorialized in letters, dated October 15, that set forth 

sales goals for life, property and casualty insurance. The letters plainly state that the agents 

would be retained if they met these sales goals by the end of the third quarter of 1994. 

The agents later entered into "Career Agent Contracts" with Farm Bureau that stated that 

the agents can be terminated without cause and that all prior agreements are superceded by the 

new contract, which presumably includes the previous October 15 letters. However, Mr. Ivie 

held weekly meetings with Messrs. Stokes, Tanner and Woods after the contracts were signed 

and continually referred to the October 15 letters as the document that actually governed the 

agent's future employment. Specifically, Mr. Ivie told the agents that if they met the goals 

contained in their October 15 letters then they would be retained by Farm Bureau beyond the 

third quarter of 1994. By so doing, Mr. Ivie resurrected the October 15 letters and made the 

terms of those letters binding upon Farm Bureau. 

Notwithstanding the weekly meetings regarding the goals set in the October 15 letters 

and the continued representations by Mr. Ivie, Farm Bureau terminated Messrs. Stokes, Wood 

and Tanner on March 23, 1994, before the end of the first quarter of 1994. No reason was given 
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for the terminations. After the terminations, Farm Bureau confiscated the agents' books of 

business, informed the agents' clients that they had quit selling insurance, and used accounts 

from their books of business to finance new agents in the Weber office. 

Mr. Syphus worked in a separate office from Stokes, Tanner and Woods, but eventually 

suffered the same fate as the Weber agents. In June of 1994, Mr. Syphus met with his agency 

manager, Byron DeLair, regarding Mr. Syphus' future relationship with Farm Bureau. This 

conversation was memorialized in a letter from Mr. DeLair to Mr. Syphus dated June 30, 1994. 

The letter set forth minimum sales goals for life, property and casualty insurance and informed 

Mr. Syphus that if he met these minimum goals by September 30, 1994 he would remain a Farm 

Bureau agent. However, Farm Bureau terminated Mr. Syphus without reason by letter dated 

September 12, 1994, eighteen days prior to the date Mr. Syphus was given to reach his goals. At 

the time of termination, Mr. Syphus was on pace to meet the property and casualty minimums 

and had several leads to meet his life insurance minimum, which could be met with only one 

sale. Farm Bureau also confiscated Mr. Syphus's book of business, used it to finance new agents 

in Clearfield, Utah, and informed his clients that Mr. Syphus had retired. 

The plaintiffs filed a Complaint against the Farm Bureau defendants alleging breach of 

contract (Claims 1 and 2), breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing (Claim 

3), interference with existing and prospective business relations (Claim 4), unjust enrichment 

(Claim 5) and punitive damages (Claim 6). Farm Bureau moved for summary judgment on all 

six claims. Judge Lyon granted the motion and this appeal was filed. 
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STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 

1. The appellants are all former insurance agents of Farm Bureau. Their years of 

service are as follows: 

Name Years as Career Agent 

Leo Syphus 41 

Jay Wood 28 

Darrel Tanner 12 

Scott Stokes 10 

Exhibits 10, 7; Tanner Depo. at 10 (Ex. 1); Stokes Depo. at 7 (Ex. 2); Wood Depo. at 11 

(Ex. 3); Syphus Depo. at 7 (Ex. 4). Their combined service as Farm Bureau agents is over 91 

years. 

2. During Career Agents' tenure at Farm Bureau, each executed several Career 

Agent Contracts with Farm Bureau, which designated them as independent contractors. The 

independent contractor provision remained constant and provides: 

4. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR. It is the 
intent of the parties hereto that for all purposes and in all situations 
governed by the provisions of this agreement, Career Agent will 
be, and is hereby declared to be, an independent contractor and not 
an employee, and that the relationship between Career Agent and 
Companies created by this agreement, will be governed by those 
rules of law governing the status of and relationships with 
independent contractors and not those rules of law governing 
employer-employee relations. Accordingly, Career Agent has the 
right to control the activities and means by which the provisions of 
this agreement are carried out, the right to exercise independent 
judgment as to the persons from whom applications for insurance 
policies will be solicited, and the right to determine the time, place, 
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and manner of soliciting and servicing policyholders of the 
Companies. 

If training courses, sales methods and material or similar 
aids and services are extended or made available to the Agent, it is 
agreed that the purpose and effect thereof will not be to give the 
Company control over the Agent's time or direction or control over 
the manner or means by which he will conduct his business, but 
only to assist the Agent in his business. 

5. CAREER AGENT'S RESPONSIBILITIES. 
Career Agent agrees to comply with the Companies' rules and 
regulations pertaining to the policies and products covered by this 
Contract, provided, however, that such rules and regulations will 
not interfere with Career Agents' status as an independent 
contractor as described in paragraph 4 above. 

Exhibit 5. 

3. Farm Bureau referred to their agents as "Career Agents", suggesting a long-

term relationship between Farm Bureau and such agents. Exhibit 5. 

4. Farm Bureau treated each Career Agent's book of business1 as the property of 

the Career Agent. 

a. Each Career Agent was told at hiring that the book of business was his and 

that he could retire on it one day from either selling it or receiving the renewal 

commissions from it. Tanner Depo. at 26, 35 (Ex. 1); Stokes Depo. at 31, 42-43 (Ex. 2); 

Wood Depo. at 23, 31 (Ex. 3). Each Career Agent built their book of business under this 
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pretense by signing up friends, family and neighbors to Farm Bureau policies. The 

Career Agents' friends and families made up a significant portion of their book of 

business. Syphus Depo. at 64, 67 (Ex. 4); Stokes Depo. at 20; Wood Depo. at 22. 

b. Farm Bureau could not remove accounts from a Career Agent's book of 

business. The only exception was if the agent failed to properly service the account. 

Tanner Depo. at 19, 21, 23, 43 (Ex. 1); Stokes Depo. at 43-46 (Ex. 2); Wood Depo. at 12, 

52-55, 70 (Ex. 3); Syphus Depo. at 50, 53, 83 (Ex. 4); Exhibit 5, <j[8. 

As more fully explained in the argument, the "book of business" is a term of art in the insurance industry 
meaning the annual premiums generated by the Career Agent from selling insurance to his clients and providing 
them follow-up service. It also includes the good will generated by the agent and "expirations" and "renewals". 
Expirations are a copy of a record of the policy issued to the insured and generally includes the date of issuance, 
name of the insured, expiration, amount, premium and payments covered. Generally, there is a copy for the agent 
and a copy for the insurer. Renewals are defined as the Career Agent renewing his client's policy after the initial 
period expires. 
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c. The Career Agents were always compensated for voluntarily patting with 

accounts from their books of business. For example, Farm Bureau offered to purchase a 

portion of Mr. Syphus' book of business in exchange for reduced office expenses and 

decreased sales responsibilities. Syphus Depo. at 22-25, 45-47, 79 (Ex. 4), Exhibit 11. In 

addition, Mr. Syphus was given a new book of business when he transferred from St. 

George to Clearfield because he gave up his St. George book of business. Syphus Depo. 

at 11. Mr. Tanner was given accounts to compensate him for surrendering accounts upon 

becoming an agency manager. Tanner Depo. at 21 (Ex. 1). 

d. Each Career Agent was made aware that other agents had sold their books 

of business upon retirement. Tanner Depo. at 41 (Ex. 1); Stokes Depo. at 41-43 (Ex. 2); 

Wood Depo. at 55 (Ex. 3); Syphus Depo. at 62 (Ex. 4). 

e. In all correspondence regarding the book of business, Farm Bureau 

referred to it as owned by the Career Agents, which led the Career Agents to believe they 

owned the book of business. Tanner Depo. at 76 (Ex. 1); Stokes Depo. at 40 (Ex. 2); 

Exhibit 12 (underlined for emphasis). 

f. The Career Agents' status as independent contractors led each Career 

Agent to believe that he owned his book of business. Stokes Depo. at 15, 24 (Ex. 2); 

Wood Depo. at 25, 30-31 (Ex. 3); Tanner Depo. at 32 (Ex. 1). 

g. The Career Agents had to purchase all the account records and forms on 

which information concerning the book of business were kept. Syphus Depo. at 59-60 

(Ex. 4); Wood Depo. at 25, 32-34 (Ex. 3); Stokes Depo. at 35 (Ex. 2). 
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5. When Farm Bureau terminated Career Agents, it confiscated their books of 

business worth over $1.7 million. Tanner Depo. at 27-32, 34, 59-60, 65 (Ex. 1); Stokes Depo. at 

16-17, 20-22, 74-76 (Ex. 2); Wood Depo. at 37-41, 67-68, 73-74 (Ex. 3); Syphus Depo. at 50, 

62-64 (Ex. 4). These Career Agents had spent over 91 years in building the $1.7 million books 

of business and establishing economic and contractual relationships with their clients. 

FACTS REGARDING JAY WOOD, SCOTT STOKES AND PARREL TANNER 

6. Jay Wood was born on November 11, 1941. Exhibit 13. He started selling 

policies for Farm Bureau in 1966 in the Weber office and was terminated on March 23, 1994. 

Wood Depo. at 11 (Ex. 3); Exhibit 10. He was 53 years old on the date of his termination. 

7. Darrell Tanner was born on December 13, 1941. Exhibit 13. He started 

selling policies for Farm Bureau on April 15, 1982 in the Weber office and was terminated on 

March 23, 1994. Tanner Depo. at 10 (Ex. 1); Exhibit 10. He was 53 years old on the date of his 

termination. 

8. Scott Stokes was born on May 2, 1961. Exhibit 13. He started selling policies 

for Farm Bureau in July of 1984 in the Weber office and was terminated on March 23, 1994. 

Stokes Depo. at 7 (Ex. 2); Exhibit 10. He was 32 years old on the date of his termination. 

9. Mr. Wood was not assigned any accounts when he joined Farm Bureau and 

built his book of business to $380,000 by the time of his termination. Wood Depo. at 12 (Ex. 3); 

Affidavit of Jay Wood attached as Exhibit 14. Mr. Tanner was not assigned accounts when he 

joined Farm Bureau and built his book of business to $410,600 by the time of his termination. 

Tanner Depo. at 18, 47 (Ex. 1); Affidavit of Darrell Tanner attached as Exhibit 14. Mr. Stokes 



was assigned some accounts when he joined Farm Bureau and built his book of business to 

$300,000 by the time of his termination. Stokes Depo. at 11 (Ex. 2); Affidavit of Scott Stokes 

attached as Exhibit 14. 

10. Farm Bureau managers often told the Career Agents that they would not be 

fired except for cause, and that older agents are not terminated except for cause. Stokes Depo. at 

47, 49, and 58 (Ex. 2). 

11. In October of 1994, Darrin Ivie, the Weber Agency manager, met separately 

with Messrs. Tanner, Stokes and Wood regarding their future relationship with Farm Bureau. 

These meetings were memorialized in letters dated October 15, 1994. Exhibit 9. The letters set 

forth minimum sales goals for life, property and casualty insurance in order for the Career 

Agents to keep their relationship with Farm Bureau. Id. The letter to Mr. Tanner, which is 

representative, provides: 

I just wanted to follow up on our meeting, the goals we set 
and the commitments we made. 

You are right in believing that your book of business is not 
only an asset to your current income, but also houses a great deal 
of potential for future services (sales). 

The 1994 minimum production standards you have chosen 
for me to monitor are: 

L/D/A $14,400 
Casualty $17,400 
Property $7,800. 

As discussed at the end of the first quarter of 1994 1/4 of 
these production standards must be written and transmitted to the 
home office. At the end of the second quarter 1/2 of these 
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production standards must be issued (these numbers will be 
reflected on the 12 month rolling average production report). At 
that time if the numbers are less than expected I will begin 
recruiting to find your replacement. It will take me approximately 
90-120 days to prepare someone to take your place. At the end of 
the third quarter I will once again revisit your results,. At that time 
one of two things could happen: 

1. I see that your numbers reach the expected result at that 
time I will simply hire the new agent and increase our compliment 
or 

2. If after I look at the numbers the results are still not 
there the new agent will move into your office. 

Also we discussed the fact that this is a progressive 
expectation and that each year this minimum production standard 
will progress accordingly.... 

It is my understanding that we have agreed upon these 
standards and that if the time comes and these expectations/results 
are not achieved you will simply resign. 

As I see it, implementing these new programs and adapting 
to the changes now and in the future Darrell will be a Master 
Agent. 

Exhibit 9.

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