2000

Jay L. Wood, Darrell K. Tanner, Scott A. Stokes, and  
Leo Syphus v. Utah Farm Bureau Insurance  
Company, a Utah corporation, Farm Bureau Life  
Insurance Company, an Iowa Corporation, and  
FBL Insurance Company, an Iowa Corporation:  
Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

## **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

**I.** Although the Agents claim that Farm Bureau improperly confiscated their “books of business”, the evidence reflects that Farm Bureau only took possession of those items which the Career Agent Contract signed by each agent expressly provided belonged to Farm Bureau. While the Agents have attempted to create ambiguity by varying the definition of “book of business,” their interrogatory answers and deposition testimony reflects that they define the term to include the client lists, policyholder files and accounts, and right to renewal commissions. The Career Agent Contract expressly addresses each of these categories and vests the right to possess the records with Farm Bureau.

**II.** Farm Bureau did not breach the contract by terminating the Agents. The Career Agent Contract gives either party the right to terminate the contract with or without cause. The Agents claim that this provision was modified by statements and correspondence made by the Agents’ manager. However, with respect to Mr. Tanner, Mr. Stokes and Mr. Wood, these alleged comments were made before the Agents renewed their contracts with Farm Bureau—contracts that contained the right of either party to terminate the contract at any time. Under Utah law, the prior alleged statements are no longer enforceable as a contract. With respect to Leo Syphus, even if the statements made to him after execution

of his contract qualified as an “implied contract,” Farm Bureau complied with the contract and terminated Mr. Syphus pursuant to its terms.

**III.** As Farm Bureau only exercised its contractual rights with respect to the documents, renewal commissions and termination of the Agents, it cannot be held liable for breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing.

**IV.** The trial court properly granted summary judgment on the claims of unjust enrichment. Although the Agents rely upon cases from Iowa purportedly holding that a claim of unjust enrichment can be found even in the presence of an express contract, more recent case law from the Iowa Supreme Court is to the contrary. Moreover, it seems inconsistent to suggest that where a party has fully complied with the terms of the agreement between the parties, the party can be held liable for additional compensation not contemplated by the parties by means of a claim for unjust enrichment.

**V.** The trial court properly dismissed the claims for intentional interference with economic relations. The Agents have not contested this finding by the trial court with any analysis or argument and, therefore, it may be affirmed. Furthermore, because the claim for intentional interference with economic relations was the sole tort alleged, the claim for punitive damages must also be dismissed as such damages are not appropriate in contract claims.

## ARGUMENT

### I.

#### **THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON THE AGENTS' CLAIMS FOR THE "BOOKS OF BUSINESS."**

In the First Claim for Relief, the Agents claimed that Farm Bureau "confiscated Plaintiffs' Books of Business in violation of Plaintiffs' contracts with Defendants." R.5. (Complaint, ¶ 23).<sup>4</sup> As before the trial court, Farm Bureau is reluctant to use the phrase "book of business" because notwithstanding the Agents' suggestions to the contrary, the phrase is not subject to precise definition.

This confusion is reflected within the Agent's own brief. For example, the Agents have relied upon case law construing the term "book of business" as follows:

In the insurance industry, the term "book of business: or "expirations" has a definite and well-recognized meaning. It refers to a copy of the policy issued to the insured and contains "the date of the insurance policy, the name of the insured, the date of its expiration, the amount of insurance, premiums, property covered and terms of insurance." (*Phillips & Co. v. Pennsylvania Thresherman & Farmers' Mut. Cas. Ins. Co.*, 199 F.2d 244, 246 *cert. denied*, 345 U.S. 906).

---

<sup>4</sup> The Agents include in their brief approximate values of the "books of business" at between \$300,000 for Mr. Wood to \$680,000 for Mr. Syphus. (Agent's Brief, p. xvi). Although not relevant to the issues before the Court, It should be noted that this "value" represents the annualized premium of the policies assigned to that agent. This amount would not represent the "value" of those policies were they to be sold by Farm Bureau to another insurer but rather, as stated previously, solely provides the annualized premium value of those policies.

*In the Matter of Corning*, 488 N.Y.S.2d 477, 480 (1985). Another case defines “book of business” more simply as “the records of an insurance agency.” *In the Matter of Dunham*, 110 F.3d 286, 287 n. 1 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1997).

However, when discussing the Career Agent Contract between the parties, the Agents state that “the ‘Accounts and Records’ provision does not use the term book of business, *which embodies much more than mere accounts and records.*” (Agents’ Brief, p. 7). The Fifth Circuit’s definition that the “book of business” as “the records of an insurance agency” is thus abandoned.

To eliminate this uncertainty in the Agents’ claims, Farm Bureau asked each Agent in interrogatories to define precisely what is encompassed in the phrase “book of business” as used in the Complaint. Each Agent responded as follows:

3. With respect to the allegation in the Complaint, that you developed a “Book of Business,” please state the following:

- a. describe with particularity the items which you contend were confiscated which constituted the “Book of Business;”

**ANSWER:** Client lists, client folders, policy records, policy holders and commissions off of their premiums.

(See Answers to Defendant’s First Set of Interrogatories to Darrell Tanner, p. 3, attached as Exhibit “M” R.145; Answers of Jay Wood, p. 3, attached as Exhibit “N” R.158; Answers of Scott Stokes, p. 3, attached as Exhibit “O” R.171; Answers of Leo Syphus, p. 3, attached as Exhibit “P” R.183).



The Agents' brief seems to suggest that perhaps there is "something else" which is not embodied in the records. client lists, and renewal commissions. However, the Agents have never described what tangible property was confiscated in addition to the account records, policyholder lists and other records relating to Farm Bureau insureds.

For purposes of this brief, we assume the Agents were truthful in responding to the interrogatories and in describing the components of the "book of business." Therefore, we examine the contractual provisions relating to the "client lists, client folders, policy records, policy holders and commissions off of their premiums."

Farm Bureau's ownership of the client lists, client folders, and policy records is established by the Career Agent Contract, which provides as follows:

**(b) ACCOUNTS AND RECORDS.** Career Agent shall keep accurate accounts and records of all business transactions including without limitations, account service records, which will be open at all times to inspection and examination by authorized representatives of Companies. *All accounts, account records, policyholder files, policyholder lists, rate books or manuals, applications and other forms and all other records in Career Agent's possession pertaining to Companies' business will be the property of Companies and will be returned to Companies upon demand.*

R.127. (See Career Agent Contract, p. 2, attached as Exhibit "H") (Emphasis added). This provision unambiguously states that the policyholder records, lists and files claimed to be part of the "book of business" belong to Farm Bureau and not the Agents.

The Career Agent Contract also provided that any right to renewal commissions would cease once the Agent was terminated:

## **6. LIFE, DISABILITY INCOME AND ANNUITY COMMISSIONS.**

\* \* \*

**(c) RENEWAL COMMISSIONS.** . . . Renewal commissions will be paid to the Career Agent who personally produced the policy until (1) *that Career Agent's contract with the Companies is terminated* or (2) *the policy on which the renewal commission is payable is assigned to another Career Agent, whichever occurs first.*

\* \* \*

## **7. PROPERTY AND CASUALTY COMMISSIONS.**

\* \* \*

### **(b) PROPERTY AND CASUALTY RENEWAL COMMISSIONS.**

Renewal commissions will be paid to Career Agent *while this agreement is in force*, on property and casualty premiums received and retained after the first term of the policy on all accounts assigned to the Career Agent in accordance with the Career Agent Property and Casualty Commission Schedule in effect on the date the premium on such policies is credited and recorded by the company in the appropriate premium account.

R.127. (See Contract, p. 2, attached as Exhibit "H") (Emphasis added).

Thus, the Career Agent Contract unambiguously addressed each component of the Agents' claimed "book of business," and vested ownership in the records, client lists, and accounts with Farm Bureau and granted Farm Bureau the right to terminate renewal commissions paid to the Agents after their contracts were canceled.

The Agents contend that these unambiguous provisions do not govern the present dispute for two reasons: (1) their contracts specify that they are "independent contractors"; and (2) they received indications that they owned "your Book of Business." However, neither of these explanations will permit the Agents to avoid the plain language of the Career Agent Contract.

With respect to the first contention, it is true that the Career Agent Contract contains the following provision relating to the status of the agents:

**4. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR.** It is the intent of the parties hereto that for all purposes and in all situations governed by the provisions of this agreement, Career Agent will be, and is hereby declared to be, an independent contractor and not an employee, and that the relationship between Career Agent and Companies created by this agreement, will be governed by those rules of law governing the status and relations of independent contractors and not those rules of law governing employer-employee relations. Accordingly, *Career Agent has the right to control the activities and means by which the provisions of this agreement are carried out, the right to exercise independent judgment as to the persons from whom applications for insurance policies will be solicited, and the right to determine the time, place and manner of soliciting and servicing policyholders of the Companies.*

R.128. (Career Agent Contract, attached as Exhibit “H”) (Emphasis added). This provision does no more than state that the Career Agent has the right to set his own working hours and the manner in which he solicits applications. There is nothing in this provision which suggests that the Agents own the account records or policyholder lists, or that they are entitled to receive renewal commissions after their termination.

Moreover, even if a general right can be inferred from this provision, such an inference would be insufficient to overcome the effect of the more specific provisions of the Career Agent Contract. It is a standard principle of contract interpretation that “when there is an inconsistency between a general and a specific provision, the specific provision ordinarily qualifies the meaning of the general provision.” *Mayer v. Pierce County Medical Bureau*, 909 P.2d 1323, 1327 (Wash. Ct.App. 1995); *Holland v. Board of*

*County Comm'rs*, 883 P.2d 500 (Colo.Ct.App. 1994). In this case, the express, unambiguous terms of the Career Agent Contract provide that Farm Bureau owns the account records and policyholder lists, and has the right to terminate renewal commission payments upon termination of the agent.

The Agents have also suggested that the Accounts and Records provision is ambiguous because it does not differentiate between records “pertaining to the Companies’ business” and those “pertaining to the Agent’s business.” However, there is no need to determine whether the Career Agent Contract is ambiguous in this respect because the Agents are not suggesting that Utah Farm Bureau confiscated records “pertaining to the Agent’s business.” They do not claim that Farm Bureau took records unrelated to Farm Bureau insureds or pertaining to businesses maintained by the agent unaffiliated with work they performed for Farm Bureau. Rather, they are quite evidently seeking to recover the policy lists, records and accounts of Farm Bureau insureds which clearly are records “pertaining to the Companies’ business.”

Black’s Law Dictionary defines the word “pertain” as follows: “**Pertain.** To belong or relate to, whether by nature, appointment or custom.” BLACK’S LAW DICTIONARY, (6th ed. 1991). Thus, under the terms of the Accounts and Records provision, all policyholder files, policyholder lists, accounts, account records, and other documents “relating” to Farm Bureau’s business of insurance belong to Farm Bureau.

The Agents have generated no evidence that Farm Bureau took possession of records which do not relate to its own policyholders and, therefore, pertain to its business. Consequently, the trial court properly determined that the records and documents sought by the Agents belonged to Farm Bureau and it did not breach the contracts by regaining possession of the records after the Agents were terminated.

Finally, the Agents contend that although the contract expressly gave Farm Bureau the right to retain the records and terminate the payment of renewal commissions, certain documents sent by Utah Farm Bureau referred to “your Book of Business,” and this infers an ownership interest in the account records and policyholder lists. Utah Farm Bureau, of course, disputes that such statements create an ownership interest any more than when a judge states that a hearing will be in “my courtroom” he or she is asserting an ownership of the courtroom and a right to sell, lease or otherwise dispose of it.

However, such evidence is irrelevant and inadmissible to the issues before the Court. The Utah Supreme Court has held that “[t]he interpretation of a contract is a matter of law for the court to determine unless the contract is ambiguous and evidence of the parties’ intent (which is a matter of fact) is necessary to establish the terms of the contract.” *Saunders v. Sharp*, 806 P.2d 198, 200 (Utah 1991). The Utah Supreme Court has likewise stated:

It is well settled by our prior case law that when a contract is in writing and the language is unambiguous, the intention of the parties must be

determined from the words of the agreement and that a contract interpreted without regard to extrinsic evidence is a question of law.

*R & R Energies v. Mother Earth Indus.*, 936 P.2d 1068, 1074 n. 5 (Utah 1997), *see, also*, *Turner v. Hi-Country Homeowners Ass'n*, 910 P.2d 1223, 1225-26 (Utah 1996) (“If contract is in writing and its language is not ambiguous, the parties’ intention should be determined from the words of the agreement”).

In this case, the Career Agent Contracts between the parties expressly provide that the records and policyholder lists belonged to Farm Bureau and that the Agents would no longer be entitled to renewal commissions after they were terminated. Even if evidence contradicting the written agreement exists, it did not preclude the entry of summary judgment for Farm Bureau because such evidence would be inadmissible at trial.<sup>5</sup>

In closing, there is nothing extraordinary about Farm Bureau retaking possession of their records after termination of these agents. The law has been summarized as follows:

Information acquired by an insurance agent in the course of his or her business as such and pertaining thereto belongs to the principal. An insurance agent, on the lawful termination of his or her contract of agency, has no right to retain the company’s books, or to make copies thereof for his

---

<sup>5</sup> The Utah Supreme Court has held that “inadmissible evidence cannot be considered in ruling on a motion for summary judgment.” *D & L Supply v. Saurini*, 775 P.2d 420, 421 (Utah 1989); *GNS Partnership v. Fullmer*, 873 P.2d 1157 (Utah Ct.App. 1994). Pursuant to the authority set forth above, any evidence which contradicts the written agreement of the parties is inadmissible and cannot be used to create a genuine issue of material fact to avoid summary judgment.

or her own use, or to disclose trade secrets or confidences, and where the agent attempts to do so, equity may enjoin such an action.

Lee R. Russ & Thomas F. Segalla, *Couch on Insurance 3d*, ¶ 57:60 (1996). While the Agents rely upon contrary case law, it is apparent that they have misconstrued the terms “independent contractor” with “independent agent.” An independent agent typically writes for multiple companies and essentially represents the policyholder. This Court has discussed the difference between these two concepts:

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